
Williamsburg Township Board of Trustees Minutes 

Public Hearing – Zoning Resolution ZC#2-24 

October 29, 2024 
 

 

 

The Williamsburg Township Board of Trustees held a special meeting on Tuesday, October 29, 2024 for the purpose of 

holding a hearing on ZC#2-24 alternative energy resolution for Williamsburg Township zoning.  Mr. Jordan called the 

meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., and all joined in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.  Gary Jordan, Guy Bainum, and Bari 

Henning answered the roll call.  Also present were Fiscal Officer, Doug Lefferson, Maintenance Supervisor/Zoning 

Administrator Brian Tatman, Emergency Services Chief Jason McCarthy, Charlie Maklem, Jody Wilson, and Brian Bielfelt. 

 

Mr. Jordan thanked everyone for being here and provided some opening remarks summarized below: 

• After 18 months of work, zoning verbiage has been approved (by the Zoning Commission and County) concerning 

solar under 50 megawatts. 

• April 2023 the zoning process began with research of various townships; such as Batavia Township, Jackson 

Township, Tate Township, and Marion Township to name a few. 

• The Williamsburg Township Zoning Commission met numerous times forming language. 

• Various thoughts were given at stated Williamsburg Township meetings this year from residents that had positions 

for and against solar. 

• It is a process; Trustees do not just create new zoning regulations. 

• It is important to understand that our zoning on solar impacts only Williamsburg Township.  Each entity regardless 

of being a township or village has their own zoning that impacts their dedicated areas.  Regardless, all who attended 

were given an opportunity to express their thoughts. 

• July 2024 a proof of the newly formed solar language was sent to the Clermont County Prosecutors Office for 

review. 

• After review and adjustments, the document was sent to the Clermont County Economic Development team for 

review and recommendations. 

• On October 15, 2024 a public meeting was held by the Williamsburg Township Zoning Commission at the 

Firehouse.  During this meeting public comments and recommendations were given by Williamsburg Township 

residents and nonresidents. 

• After a very productive meeting, modifications were made and approved by the Williamsburg Township Zoning 

Commission, with a recommendation for approval from the Williamsburg Township Trustees.  Mr. Jordan indicated 

Brian Bielfelt was a tremendous resource. 

• All large based solar 50 megawatts and above within Williamsburg Township were rejected by the Clermont County 

Commissioners. 

• Williamsburg Township Trustees oppose all solar projects less than 50 megawatts, to include accumulation by 

combining adjacent properties. 

• Smart use of solar by corporations, such as parking areas, for example, the Cincinnati Zoo, will be considered and 

reviewed. 

• Residential zoned solar verbiage has not been changed and will be supported. 

• Currently, Clear Mountain Solar Project (Savion) is working through the process to gain approval to build a solar 

field in Jackson Township, Batavia Township, and Williamsburg Township, pending approval by the State of Ohio 

• Jackson Township would tentatively have 846 acres, Batavia Township would tentatively have 104 acres, and 

Williamsburg Township would tentatively have 270 acres. If approved by the State of Ohio, this effort would be 

grandfathered, prior to all Clermont County or township zoning to address this situation. 

• The Williamsburg Township Trustees appreciate all the hours the Williamsburg Township Zoning Commission and 

Mr. Tatman (Zoning Administrator) put in to carefully prepare zoning language that will set expectations while 

protecting the residents of the Township’s future and safety. 

• On behalf of the community, the Trustees appreciate the dedication of this team which is Mike Pope, Vonnie Malott, 

Don Frodge, Nancy Sullivan, Ed Boll, and alternates Jody Wiedemann and Rick Healy.  Each one participated over 

the last 18 months to prepare solar zoning and with the final adjustments, this document has items that other 

townships might benchmark. The Trustees are grateful for this team, thank you and great job. 

• It has been a long road and the Trustees respect everyone’s position. 

 

Mr. Jordan opened the hearing to public comment.  Ms. Wilson commented on the section of the proposed resolution 

pertaining to fire equipment.  She provided language from another township indicating such language had been approved by 

the Prosecutor’s Office.  Mr. Bainum said on page 149 of the proposed resolution it does state “Special equipment which may 



Williamsburg Township Board of Trustees Minutes 

Public Hearing – Zoning Resolution ZC#2-24 

October 29, 2024 
be required to ensure the safety of fire and rescue personnel when responding to an emergency at the facility shall be 

provided at no cost to the Township.”  Ms. Wilson pointed out that the example language she provided states that any such 

equipment would be provided before the solar energy system becomes operational.  Mr. Henning said that was not a bad 

thought to be more specific on the timing.  The Trustees agreed to add “prior to the site being operational” to the end of 

section C. Emergency Services part c.) in regard to special equipment. 

 

Ms. Wilson commented on page 145 in regard to buffers.  Her concern was in regard to replacement of dead or diseased trees 

in the buffer and the potential legal challenge of the definition of replacing such trees in a “timely manner.”  The Trustees 

discussed alternative wording.  They approved adding “within six (6) months” to the appropriate section. It will read “The 

property owner shall replace any dead or diseased tree in the buffer within six (6) months.” 

 

Ms. Wilson said she was concerned about damage to the roads as addressed on page 148 number 7.  The Nestlewood Solar 

Project in a neighboring township had road damage issues.  Mr. Henning said the proposed language requires a prior 

agreement before the project which he believed was different then Nestlewood.  Mr. Tatman said we would document road 

conditions ahead of time before a project starts.  Mr. Jordan said use of the word “shall” indicates a requirement/obligation.  

A new project is obligated to enter a road agreement.  He said an owner could ignore anything.  That however, would be a 

legal issue.  Mr. Bainum said we document (road conditions) before the project begins. Mr. Maklem added all Township 

roads should be videoed.  Ms. Wilson brought up the issue of drainage pipes.  Mr. Henning suggested adding the wording 

“anything in the right of way” to the section on roads.  This would include signs, culverts, etc.  The Trustees approved the 

additional wording, the section will read: “Prior to the start of construction, the applicant and/or owner/operator shall enter 

into a Road Use Maintenance Agreement (RUMA) with the Clermont County Board of Commissioners and the Williamsburg 

Township Trustees to assure repairs to public roads, including anything in the right-of-way which may be damaged by the 

construction of this project.”   

 

Ms. Wilson read and provided the following verbiage from another township indicating it had already been approved by the 

Prosecutors Office: 

 

Submit a General Maintenance Bond to guarantee all aspects of this resolution are met at all times during the 

construction and operation of the Small Solar Energy System.  At the time of the rezoning application, the applicant, 

owner, and/or operator shall submit two third-party contractor bids for construction of all fencing, landscaping, and 

drainage improvements associated with the Small Solar Energy System, and the bond shall be the higher of the two 

bids.  The Township may use the bond, at its sole discretion, to repair any landscaping, fencing, drainage 

infrastructure (including drainage tiles), and/or to correct any ongoing violation of this Resolution, in the event that 

the Solar Energy System owner and/or operator fails to adequately maintain the required site improvements. 

 

As a condition of operation, fund an escrow account for investigation of complaints for, but not limited to glare, 

stray voltage, noise, property damage, (including water runoff damage), and/or signal interference in the amount of 

$25,000 to be used by the Township to pay for third-party investigative services, the provider of which shall be 

chosen by the Township.  Such funds shall be deposited with the Township Fiscal Officer, or with a third-party 

fiduciary, at the discretion of the Township.  When the escrow account balance is below $10,000, the Township 

shall notify the applicant, owner, and/or operator and the account shall be replenished to the amount of $25,000 

within 30 days. 

 

Mr. Jordan asked Mr. Tatman if Williamsburg Township’s proposed resolution had anything on this.  Mr. Tatman said not 

similar language.  Mr. Bielfelt said this type of language was usually seen on larger projects and indicated it was certainly 

unique.  He said it does provide teeth to the need to follow the contract.  Mr. Jordan said he gets what it is trying to achieve.  

Mr. Tatman questioned what the $10,000 or $25,000 would be used for specifically.  Mr. Jordan said Mr. Tatman and his 

team need to look at and that this was good information.  He said the Zoning Commission needs to look at though maybe a 

future addendum, if warranted.  Mr. Henning said this was a great thought and the Zoning Commission may add.  He 

indicated the Township may need to review this resolution every two years. Mr. Jordan said the proposed language may limit 

the future dollars the Township could get for these type issues. 

 

There was a question about adopting the resolution with changes.  Mr. Henning said the Trustees can adopt with changes.  

Ms. Wilson referred to the Ohio Revised Code flowchart for the process. Mr. Jordan said the Trustees can reject, approve, or 

modify the resolution.  Mr. Tatman said the Trustee can make changes and the document will be posted on the website with 

the Trustees recommendations highlighted in a different color from recommendations already highlighted by the Zoning 



Williamsburg Township Board of Trustees Minutes 

Public Hearing – Zoning Resolution ZC#2-24 

October 29, 2024 
Commission and County.  Mr. Tatman indicated it would take a majority vote of the Trustees to modify the resolution and it 

would be effective 30 days after adoption. 

 

Mr. Bielfelt asked if alternate energy should be more defined in the document to cover a variety of energy sources or future 

energy sources.  There was discussion on this topic with the Trustees and others present.  Mr. Henning said our current 

document really addresses solar and wind projects.  Mr. Jordan indicated we should take this to the Zoning Commission to 

refine the definition.  He indicated we should also get the right verbiage from attorneys regarding any potential refinement to 

the definition of alternate energy.  Mr. Jordan reiterated the Zoning Commission will look at it in the future. 

 

Mr. Jordan asked if the Trustees were ok with the three changes discussed tonight and the modifications previously made by 

the Zoning Commission and Clermont County. The Trustees indicated they were.  Mr. Jordan motioned to approve the new 

Article 11 Alternate Energy Section Resolution for the Williamsburg Township Zoning Resolution Book with the 

recommendations from the Clermont County Planning Commission and the Williamsburg Township Zoning Commission, 

and the following recommendations proposed in this hearing: 

1. Adding “within six (6) months” to the Buffers section on page 145. It will read “The property owner shall replace 

any dead or diseased tree in the buffer within six (6) months.” 

2. Adding “including anything in the right-of-way” to number 7, page 148 the section will read: “Prior to the start of 

construction, the applicant and/or owner/operator shall enter into a Road Use Maintenance Agreement (RUMA) 

with the Clermont County Board of Commissioners and the Williamsburg Township Trustees to assure repairs to 

public roads, including anything in the right-of-way which may be damaged by the construction of this project.”   

3. Adding “prior to the site being operational” to the end of section C. Emergency Services part c.) page 149 in regard 

to special equipment. 

Mr. Henning second. All yeas. 

 

Mr. Tatman indicated that old residential language should be removed.  Mr. Bainum motioned to remove Section 508.5 Use 

Specific Standards Subsection P Small Wind Energy Systems and Subsection Q Solar Panels from the Zoning Resolution 

Book.  Mr. Jordan second.  All yeas.  

 

Mr. Jordan said he was grateful for everyone coming out tonight. 

 

There being no further business, Mr. Henning motioned to adjourn at approximately 7:03 p.m.  Mr. Bainum second.  All 

yeas. 

 

 

 

 

 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 

Fiscal Officer     Chairperson 

    


